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Introduction  
Equality is a founding value of the EU and part of the shared constitutional traditions of Member 
States. Therefore, equality considerations should inform and guide all actions by the European 
Union, its Member States, and public authorities. An important development in this regard was the 
European Commission’s 2019 decision to set up a Task Force on Equality. This was followed by the 
adoption of equality strategies on several grounds, with all of them putting an emphasis on 
mainstreaming equality. A further step, beyond mainstreaming equality in the public sector, is to 
ensure that equality considerations are also observed by private actors, such as employers and 
service providers.  

Equality bodies have built up considerable experience and expertise in promoting equality 
mainstreaming and this experience can be used to inform policymaking, both at European and 
national level. Therefore, last year, Equinet set up a multi-annual Cluster of equality bodies, focusing 
on equality mainstreaming. In its first year, the Cluster examined the use of equality duties and 
equality impact assessments for mainstreaming equality and published a Compendium of Good 
Practices on Equality Mainstreaming. This year, the Cluster is focusing on the role of equality bodies 
in supporting equality planning by public bodies and private sector actors. This is a concept that 
holds significant potential and is an area where Equinet and its members have useful experience and 
expertise to share.  

What is equality planning?  
'Equality plan' is a broad term that is intended to include other similar tools, such as diversity plans, 
integration plans, diversity charters, or equal opportunities plans and programmes. Adopting an 
equality plan may be compulsory for public and/or private sector organisations, but it may also be 
the result of a voluntary decision by the organisation (e.g., as a result of signing a national diversity 
charter). Equality plans and diversity charters usually make a diagnosis of the situation, set out 
equality objectives, and clearly establish the strategies and practices to be adopted to achieve them. 
Equality plans typically contain concrete and assessable measures to ensure and enhance diversity 
and the effective equality of all employees, patients, students, customers, or users of goods and 
services on any protected ground of discrimination or their combinations. The implementation of 
equality plans should be regularly monitored and evaluated, and equality bodies may play a 
statutory or voluntary role in this process. The Cluster has collected good practices from equality 
bodies across Europe on equality planning which informed this conference.  

By bringing together a wide array of stakeholders, from public institutions and local authorities to 
civil society, private sector organisations, and equality bodies from across Europe, this Conference 
aimed to explore how all relevant actors can cooperate and better promote equality planning to 
tackle discrimination across the protected fields and grounds. This Equinet Conference took place in 
Lisbon, Portugal and was co-organised in collaboration with two Equinet members, the Portuguese 
Commission for Citizenship and Gender Equality (CIG) and the Portuguese High Commission for 
Migration (ACM). 

https://equineteurope.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/0.-Compendium-of-Good-Practices-on-Equality-Mainstreaming.pdf
https://equineteurope.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/0.-Compendium-of-Good-Practices-on-Equality-Mainstreaming.pdf
https://www.cig.gov.pt/
https://www.cig.gov.pt/
https://www.acm.gov.pt/inicio
https://www.acm.gov.pt/inicio
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Main takeaways 
The main learnings and takeaways from the Conference can be grouped under the following 
headings: 

 

 How can equality plans be a main tool for equality mainstreaming?  

 How should equality plans be designed and implemented? 

 What is needed for durable change? 

 What role can equality bodies play?  
 

How can equality plans be a main tool for equality mainstreaming? 
Equality planning is a tool that holds significant potential for promoting and implementing equality 
and diversity across a range of fields of life and protected grounds. If properly implemented, 
equality planning has a transformative potential not only within organisations but for 
society as whole. By promoting diversity and instilling concrete measures for equality 
mainstreaming at the heart of an organisation’s functioning, equality plans create better conditions 
for workers and promote a deeper understanding of organizational make-up amongst management 
and decisionmakers. Effective equality planning can help to create common goals, foster 
accountability, and establish internal standards against which progress can be assessed. Equality 
planning relates to organizational change and development, beyond simple tick-box exercises, to 
embed the added value of equality and diversity in all areas of an organisation’s work. Overall, 
comprehensive equality planning is a fundamental tool to ensure that companies, institutions and 
services mirror the societies that we live in.  

Beyond the inherent value of achieving equality and diversity, equality plans can also bring positive 
economic impacts to businesses by ensuring safe and inclusive working environments and 
promoting innovative solutions.  

How should equality plans be designed and implemented? 
Equality planning, as with any kind of organisational change, comes with its unique set of challenges. 
That is why change requires leadership, commitment, human and financial resources, continuous 
monitoring, capacity building, measurable objectives, and a clear strategy.  

The Conference sessions highlighted the necessary steps to successfully design and implement 
equality plans. Equality planning is a process rather than a single output, comprising the design, 
development, implementation, monitoring, and subsequent adaptation of equality plans. For 
equality plans to play a role in achieving equality in practice, actors need to go beyond tick-box 
exercises and systematically integrate equality perspectives in their activities, functions and 
operations. Panelists highlighted the importance of building bridges, fostering cooperation and 
promoting synergies amongst all actors across all sectors, from duty-bearers, to workers, clients, 
and service beneficiaries.  
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Panelists also emphasised the need to create partnerships and build bridges to instill mutual 
accountability and ensure equality plans are sustainable. This can be done by:  

 Designing equality plans directly in consultation with stakeholders, such as employees, 
local and national institutions, and trade unions. 

 Committing to continuously maintain engagement. 
 Establishing and maintaining internal and external communication channels.  
 Regularly reviewing plans collectively.  

Here, equality bodies have an important role to play as bridge-builders and dialogue-enablers. 
However, panelists also pointed to the importance of ensuring sustainable change and securing 
long-term political commitment and resources for equality planning. 

What is needed for durable change? 
Equality bodies can help keep equality planning on the agenda and hold duty-bearers accountable. A 
key takeaway of the conference was that equality planning needs strong leadership and durable 
financial, human, and political commitments. To do so, it is important to introduce legal duties for 
equality planning at the national level, including with sanctions for lack of compliance. While 
voluntary measures are crucial, legal duties are critical to bring all actors on board, promote strong 
cooperation, and ensure long-term resources for equality mainstreaming.  

Panelists discussed the challenges they found in promoting the implementation and enforcement of 
equality plans, such as the lack of accountability due to the absence of sanctions for non-compliance 
with the law, lack of understanding and awareness of the strategic benefits of equality plans for 
improving human resource management, and lack of monitoring to ensure the respect of 
institutional recommendations and guidelines. However, several different ways in which equality 
bodies can address these challenges were highlighted. For instance, equality bodies can facilitate 
spaces to discuss the challenges and barriers organisations and companies face to bridge gaps in 
understanding, increase engagement, and identify potential solutions. Likewise, equality bodies 
can enable structured dialogues to bring equality plans to the highest level of both the political 
and corporate agendas.  

The implementation of equality plans – whether in the public or private sector, at the local or 
national level – requires strong strategic cooperation and engagement amongst all actors to 
promote knowledge sharing and capacity building, reach target audiences, and achieve cross-
sectoral goals.  

Equality bodies are well placed to promote synergies amongst different actors across all sectors by 
engaging and mobilising stakeholders, policymakers, and operational staff. Equality planning not 
only benefits equality and diversity in the workplace, but also brings opportunities for business and 
innovation. To bring all actors on board, it is important to stress that equality planning is a smart, 
business-oriented decision to employ the most talented candidates, foster a positive working culture 
and thus enhancing productivity, and reap the benefits of diverse and innovative teams.  

Equality data is key to underpin equality planning, including its design, implementation, and review. 
Data allows organisations to assess the state of equality within their organisations, design clear and 
measurable objectives, and clear processes to reach these. Equality bodies can once again play an 
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important role in raising capacity for data collection and ensuring all stakeholders are aware of 
equality plans in place.  

What role can equality bodies can play? 
With their experience and expertise in equality planning, and equality mainstreaming more 
generally, equality bodies have enormous potential to guide private and public sector actors in this 
field. Equality bodies can help to make equality plans ‘visible’ and raise awareness amongst the 
public and workers on the possibilities and benefits of such plans to better hold employers and 
institutions accountable. 

The Conference speakers identified three main roles equality bodies can play in equality planning:  

a) They can lead by example by implementing and reviewing their own equality plans.  

b) They can support other organisations in doing so by providing training, technical support, 
and capacity building, issuing or ensuring guidelines are in place, advising decision- and 
policymakers, and fostering partnerships, such as through Diversity Charters.  

c) They can play an important role in the monitoring of equality plans, both systematically and 
ad hoc, through information requests, questionnaires, and various assessment tools. The 
monitoring work of equality bodies can either be tied to national legal duties to implement 
equality plans, as well as in response to cases of discrimination, whereby equality planning is 
used as a tool to support victims and prevent discrimination from occurring again.  

However, equality bodies require adequate mandates, powers, resources, and sufficient 
independence to fulfill these roles and promote efficient and ambitious equality planning. The 
upcoming EU legislative proposal for binding minimum standards for equality bodies will therefore 
be an important turning point for their work on equality planning.  



ALBANIA
Commissioner for the Protection from 
Discrimination
www.kmd.al

AUSTRIA
Austrian Disability Ombudsman
www.behindertenanwalt.gv.at

AUSTRIA
Ombud for Equal Treatment
www.gleichbehandlungsanwaltschaft.gv.at

BELGIUM
Institute for the Equality of Women and Men
www.igvm-iefh.belgium.be

BELGIUM
Unia (Interfederal Centre for Equal 
Opportunities)
www.unia.be

BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA
Institution of Human Rights Ombudsman of 
Bosnia and Herzegovina
www.ombudsmen.gov.ba

BULGARIA
Commission for Protection against 
Discrimination
www.kzd-nondiscrimination.com

CROATIA
Office of the Ombudsman
www.ombudsman.hr

CROATIA
Ombudsperson for Gender Equality
www.prs.hr

CROATIA
Ombudswoman for Persons with Disabilities
www.posi.hr

CYPRUS
Commissioner for Administration and Human 
Rights (Ombudsman)
www.ombudsman.gov.cy

CZECH REPUBLIC
Public Defender of Rights
www.ochrance.cz

DENMARK
Danish Institute for Human Rights
www.humanrights.dk

ESTONIA
Gender Equality and Equal Treatment 
Commissioner
www.volinik.ee

FINLAND
Non-Discrimination Ombudsman
www.syrjinta.fi

FINLAND
Ombudsman for Equality
www.tasa-arvo.fi

FRANCE
Defender of Rights
www.defenseurdesdroits.fr

GEORGIA
Public Defender of Georgia (Ombudsman)
www.ombudsman.ge

GERMANY
Federal Anti-Discrimination Agency
www.antidiskriminierungsstelle.de

GREECE
Greek Ombudsman
www.synigoros.gr

HUNGARY
Office of the Commissioner for Fundamental 
Rights
www.ajbh.hu

IRELAND
Irish Human Rights and Equality Commission
www.ihrec.ie

ITALY
National Office against Racial Discrimination - 
UNAR
www.unar.it

KOSOVO*
Ombudsperson Institution
www.oik-rks.org

LATVIA
Office of the Ombudsman
www.tiesibsargs.lv

LITHUANIA
Office of the Equal Opportunities Ombudsperson
www.lygybe.lt

LUXEMBURG
Centre for Equal Treatment
www.cet.lu

MALTA
Commission for the Rights of Persons with 
Disability
www.crpd.org.mt

MALTA
National Commission for the Promotion of 
Equality
www.equality.gov.mt

MOLDOVA 
Council on Preventing and Eliminating 
Discrimination and Ensuring Equality
www.egalitate.md

MONTENEGRO
Protector of Human Rights and Freedoms 
(Ombudsman)
www.ombudsman.co.me

NETHERLANDS
Netherlands Institute for Human Rights
www.mensenrechten.nl

NORTH MACEDONIA
Commission for Prevention and Protection 
against Discrimination
www.kszd.mk

NORWAY
Equality and Anti-Discrimination Ombud
www.ldo.no

POLAND
Commissioner for Human Rights
www.rpo.gov.pl

PORTUGAL
Commission for Citizenship and Gender Equality
www.cig.gov.pt

PORTUGAL
Commission for Equality in Labour and 
Employment
www.cite.gov.pt

PORTUGAL
High Commission for Migration
www.acm.gov.pt

ROMANIA
National Council for Combating Discrimination
www.cncd.ro

SERBIA
Commissioner for Protection of Equality
www.ravnopravnost.gov.rs

SLOVAKIA
Slovak National Centre for Human Rights
www.snslp.sk

SLOVENIA
Advocate of the Principle of Equality
www.zagovornik.si

SPAIN
Council for the Elimination of Ethnic or Racial 
Discrimination
www.igualdadynodiscriminacion.igualdad.gob.es 

SPAIN
Institute of Women
www.inmujer.es

SWEDEN
Equality Ombudsman
www.do.se

UNITED KINGDOM - GREAT BRITAIN
Equality and Human Rights Commission
www.equalityhumanrights.com

UNITED KINGDOM - NORTHERN IRELAND
Equality Commission for Northern Ireland
www.equalityni.org

* This designation is without prejudice to positions on 
status, and is in line with UNSCR 1244/1999 and the ICJ
Opinion on the Kosovo declaration of independence.
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